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Patriotism or devotion to one's country is a sentiment. It is not due to self-interest nor other sordid motive, but is born of the story of her origin and of the achievements of the brave and enterprising ancestral stock, which, out of small beginnings, established and organized and wrought a nation. Every great city is in semblance a small nation, both in government and the loyal co-operation of its people for the common good. And the same patriotic devotion, born of the same sentiment does, or should prevail in every city as in every nation. As our civilization grows older our larger cities are taking more interest in the story of their own origin and development, and concerning some of them many historical volumes have been written, dealing with almost every incident of fact and legend that could be traced. And in many notable instances of cities the greater the knowledge of her history, the greater the pride and love and devotion of her people. The city of Memphis, though rated young among her Eastern sisters in America, is yet one of the most ancient, considering the discovery of her site, and the building of the first habitations of the white man here, on the whole American continent. When it is recalled that the adventurous Hernando De Soto built a cantonment for his troops here and established a little ship-yard, in which he constructed four pirogues or barges, large enough to transport across the Mississippi River in time of high water, five hundred Spanish soldiers, as many more Indian vessels and one hundred and fifty horses, with baggage and other military equipment, in a few hours, and that all this occurred seventy-nine years before the landing of the Mayflower at Plymouth Rock and twenty-four years before the building of the first hut and stockade at St. Augustine, Fla., it will be realized that our story dates far back in ancient American history. Following up this fact much space has been given to the wonderful march of De Soto from Tampa Bay, Fla., to the Chickasaw Bluffs, literally hewing his way as he came with sword and halberd through swarming nations of brave Indians; and to showing that he marched directly from the Chickasaw towns in northeast Mississippi to the Chickasaw Bluffs; and to presenting in fullest detail from the Spanish Chroniclers what De Soto and his people did while on the Bluffs where Memphis now stands. And it was deemed proper also to tell with equal detail of the voyages of Marquette and Joliet and La Salle, past the lonely Chickasaw Bluffs, and of the coming of Le Moyne Bienville with a large army and the construction of a great fortress here, heavily mounted with artillery, in the endeavor to overcome the heroic Chickasaws who resented the French invasions in the effort to conquer their country and to found a great French Empire in Western America, And the story also is told of the effort of Governor Don Manuel Gayoso to establish in like manner a Spanish Empire west of the Mississippi River before the Americans could take hold. Indeed few American cities possess so romantic a story and the archives, not only of the United States, but of France and Spain also are yet rich in historical material awaiting the historian with time and opportunity for investigation.
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CHAPTER I. Prehistoric Newark.





IT required

millions of years to prepare the territory we now call Newark for the

habitation of modern man, and while this fact is quite as true of most other

portions of the earth, the processes by which this region was made ready have

striking characteristics of their own. The name "Newark group," for

instance, is a term given by science upward of half a century ago to a certain

kind of rock formation found in some other sections of the country, but nowhere

more clearly and typically defined than here. 




This rock was

made in the third grand division of time since the very beginning of things,

the Mesozoic, in the later Triassic and earlier Jurassic periods of that

division. It was also the age of reptiles. This Newark stone is of three

principal kinds: Trap rock, which in Mesozoic time was vomited forth through

fissures from beneath the slowly stiffening crust of the earth as lava, and to

be seen in the remarkable formations on the Orange Mountains and elsewhere;

shale, which was at the same period mud; and sandstone, which was originally

sand. The "Newark group," as State Geologist Henry B. Kummel has

described it for this publication, consists of a great thickness of alternating

red shale and sandstone with intercolated sheets of trap rock, which latter

represent flows of lava from fissures during the deposition of muds and sands

which now constitute the shales and sandstones. These rocks extend from the

Hudson river, near Haverstraw, southward through New Jersey, Pennsylvania and

Maryland into Virginia. Other detached areas lie in Nova Scotia, Connecticut,

Massachusetts, Virginia and North Carolina. 




"Ripple

marks, mud cracks, raindrop impressions and footprints of reptiles at various

horizons indicate that these beds of shale and sandstone were deposited by

shallow waters, perhaps by broad shallow streams flowing across a wide plain

bordering a lofty mountain range. Lakes of little depth or brackish water

lagoons communicating with the ocean probably occurred here and there upon the

plain." 




It was upon

this foundation then, fashioned during aeons of time, that the surface was to

be built up through more ages, largely during the wonderful glacial epoch and

by means of the many changes in level of the surface and the variations in

temperatures from Arctic to tropical. 




The glaciers,

as is well known, brought down vast quantities of stone, earth, gravel and

sand, the latter being ground from the rocks as they were forced against each

other by the tremendous pressure of the ice around them. Much of this material

was carried from points two and even three hundred miles to the northward. The

whole glacial mass in New Jersey was from one-eighth to one fifth of a mile

deep. 




The ice

field, mighty sculptor that it was, wrought marvelous changes in its passage.

It hewed and hacked, ploughed and gashed, tore and twisted, broke down and

built up, until the whole surface of the earth was made over. It was rough

treatment, but to it we owe the natural beauties of upper New Jersey today. 




 




LAYING THE

STATE'S FOUNDATIONS. 




 




The rude work

of this ice giant was ended when the glacier's edge reached Belvidere on the

western boundary of the State, and Perth Amboy on the eastern border. Milder

temperature forced it to release its grip; it began to melt. The invading ice

field had almost reached the sea, for at that time more than one-third of New

Jersey was under water. If you draw a line from Long Branch to Salem on the

map, you will come close to describing the coast line as it was then. 




As the gentle

winds from the south softened the chilly breath of the ice field, great floods

of water surged seaward. The chips and dust which this titanic sculptor of the

land had made in passing and which it had long held tight, now dropped down.

These counties were gradually freed from the ice: Sussex, Passaic, Bergen,

Morris, Essex, Hudson, Union and the upper halves of Warren and Somerset. All

this district was given a new covering many feet deep of the soil and rock the

ice field left, while great masses were washed down upon the rest of the State

that was above the sea, and which we can describe as follows: The lower halves

of Warren and Somerset counties; very nearly all of Hunterdon, Middlesex,

Mercer and Monmouth; the upper thirds of Burlington and Camden, and small

sections of two counties which were still beneath the sea, Gloucester and

Salem. Ocean, Atlantic, Cumberland and Cape May counties were as yet a waste of

waters. Presently, however, other gigantic forces within the earth came to the

aid of those at work on the surface, and the submerged area appeared, the

rivers and floods helping the uprising by bringing down great quantities of

glacial drift and spreading it in every direction. The depth of the drift left

in the vicinity of Newark varies exceedingly. "In the southern and eastern

parts of the city," says Mr. Kummel, "in the meadows or in regions

which were meadows before they were reclaimed, borings go 100 to 200 and 250

feet before reaching bed rock. In the western part of the city, however, where

the land is higher, the rock is much nearer the surface. Common depths of the

drift are 10, 15 and 20 feet." In every section of the city where cellars

or trenches are being dug or other excavations made, one may see this glacial

drift, beneath such soil as has been deposited over it by the natural process

of erosion, gathered during the ages that have elapsed since the glaciers spent

themselves. 




 




THE PASSAIC

AND WEEQUAHIC. 




 




The Passaic

river, as well as the Delaware, had flowed seaward for centuries before the

glacial epoch and the ice fields played quite as marvelous pranks with the

waterways as with the land. The story of the ancient Passaic, as science has

laid it before us, is briefly as follows: When the ice first came it stopped up

the river above Paterson, near Little Falls, and for ages there was no river

from that point down the present and former course. For a long time before the

ice period this river had had two outlets to the sea, the one we now know, and

the other through a gap in the Second Mountain, at Short Hills. After the ice,

in its slow march southward, closed up the outlet at Little Falls, it dammed

the gap at Short Hills. Then the upper Passaic Valley was drained only through

an opening in the hills at Moggy Hollow, which is about eight miles north of

Somerville. When the ice stopped the flow toward Paterson Falls, the drainage

of the section of the upper valley still free from ice, accumulated in a lake,

immediately in front of the advancing glacial mass. Thus the prehistoric Lake

Passaic was formed. The lake was, so to speak, pushed ahead of the ice, and

when the glacier had covered the whole valley, the lake was temporarily

obliterated. When the ice began to melt, or as the scientists say, recede, the

lake appeared again. It was at its maximum area just before the ice disappeared

from the channel near Little Falls, for the Short Hills outlet was now

permanently filled with the glacial drift and that at Moggy Hollow was too

inconsiderable to carry off the waters to any appreciable degree. At this time

the lake was about twenty miles long, from Little Falls to Moggy Hollow, and

approximately nine miles wide, from Summit to the Morristown region. 




Geologists

have learned enough to know that the Passaic river which flowed through the

Short Hills as described above, was a large and powerful stream. That it flowed

through a comparatively wide and deep valley would also seem to have been

proved. Did it flow through Newark? Its upper bank was certainly very close to

the southern boundary of the present city. It reached the sea somewhere between

Elizabeth and Newark, possibly at Waverly. It may be that little Weequahic

creek, from which the present park derives its name, and which is largely

responsible for the present lake there, is the venerable and mightily-reduced

relic of the ancient river. 




It was but an

accident of Nature that the glacial drift did not permanently close the channel

at Little Falls and not that at Short Hills. Had it happened this way, the

Passaic would now be flowing along Newark's southern instead of its eastern

border. What more striking and instructive manifestation of the changes worked

out in those dim days of the earth's making-over could be found? 




Thus, by

majestic stages, through spaces of time of so great duration that the mind

cannot comprehend their extent, was the Newark ground made ready for the final

touches that were to render it habitable for the Indians, the immediate

predecessors of the men who founded the city. 




We know there

was animal life on the site of Newark before and during portions of the glacial

era. But prehistoric man, the primeval human, was he here? The Eskimo, some

authorities believe, followed the glacial movement southward and retired when

the great ice fields began to succumb to a warmer climate. 




 




THEORIES AS

TO PREHISTORIC MAN. 




 




Traces of

prehistoric man in divers sections of the earth are often found below the

glacial deposit or drift, in rude implements which were not accidents of nature

but must have been fashioned by human hands. Fragments of bone believed to be those

of the mammoth, the musk-ox and the reindeer, have been found in the Delaware

Valley, below the so-called Trenton gravels. Science still hesitates to admit

that these relics prove the existence of prehistoric man along the Delaware; in

fact there have been animated controversies on this point during the last two

decades or so. It may remain for the proof to be brought out in this section of

the State, possibly somewhere in the Passaic Valley. 




In recent

years, we may say since the opening of the Twentieth century, a more general

interest in the science of anthropology, archaeology and kindred branches has

arisen. In our own State more determined and intelligent efforts than ever

before are on foot to pry into the secrets of the State's very early past. The

legislature of 1912 set aside a small sum to be devoted to archaeological

research under the direction of the State Geological Survey, with a view of

locating the Indian villages of former times and to gather together all the

relics of the savages that are to be found. If this search is continued it is

possible that traces of prehistoric man may also be found. They may lie along

the ancient pathways of the Passaic (on any one or all three of them), as well

as along the Delaware, and in other sections of Essex county. 


















 




CHAPTER II. The Indians and the Dutch




A HISTORY of

Newark would be sadly incomplete without some account of the red man who, for

unnumbered centuries before Columbus found the continent, abode on this soil

and knew it for his own. He was the ancient owner, the first, unless

prehistoric man had his brute-like existence hereabouts. The men who founded

Newark received the territory direct from the Indian, causing him to retire

gradually to more and more distant points with constantly reducing numbers

until the savage was lost in oblivion. The story of his going hence is much the

same as everywhere in the early settlement of the country, with this striking

and altogether pleasing difference; while elsewhere the ground was often

wrested from him by force and by trickery, here, in Newark, as throughout all

New Jersey, the Indian was paid the price he asked for every foot of the land. 




There was no

Indian village of any considerable size on Newark soil, at least not for

several generations before the settlement. It was part of the domain of the

Awkinges-awky, Ackinken-hackys or Hackensacks, a sub-tribe of the Lenni Lenape

or Delaware Indians. The Hackensacks' headquarters were near the site of the

present city of Hackensack, and the tribal boundaries were, roughly, Weequahic

creek (the original boundary line afterwards fixed by the settlers between

Newark and Elizabethtown) on the south; the Ramapo mountains on the north and

west, with the Hudson and a part of Staten Island completing the confines.

Below the Hackensacks were the Raritans and above them the Tappans. The whole

State was dotted with tribal centers, like that near Hackensack, from which

small groups composed of a few families moved hither and thither over the

region set aside to their tribe, hunting, fishing, raising occasional crops of

maize, corn, etc. 




 




OLD INDIAN

HIGHWAYS. 




 




When the

Dutch trappers and traders, the first white men to really explore the region,

fared out from New Amsterdam, and from the little settlement at Bergen, a

decade or so after Hudson discovered the great river that bears his name, they

found the country we now call New Jersey peopled with perhaps fifteen hundred

Indians, living peacefully, each division and sub-division in its own section

under a loose government which served well for all purposes of the aborigines. They

welcomed the Dutchmen, piloted them up and down the streams, bartered their

furs, showed them the way through the wilderness along the myriad paths which

the feet of many generations of their people had worn deep, along the waterways

through clefts in the hills, around all natural barriers, over meadows and

beside marshes and in and out of forests that to the stranger seemed at first

quite impenetrable. They taught them many things in woodcraft, and they showed

them the mysteries of their crude methods of farming. 




The greatest

Indian pathway in all New Jersey was undoubtedly the Minisink path, leading

from the sea to the headquarters of the Minsis, on Minisink Island high up in

the Delaware. This path ran from the Shrewsbury river, northwest, crossing the

Raritan a little west of Perth Amboy; proceeding north to and through the Short

Hills and then to the Passaic, which it crossed where the oldest portion of

Chatham, Morris county, now is, at a ford where Day's Bridge was built, in

1747. From this ford the old path ran a distance of about twelve miles to

Little Falls, being seldom more than six or eight miles west of the Watchung

(First) Mountain, from the Short Hills to Little Falls. There was another

crossing there, from whence the path ran along the eastern side of the, valley

to Pompton; thence following the Pequannock towards the Delaware river. 




"The

Newark mountain region," writes Wickes in his history of the Oranges,

"was constantly crossed and recrossed by the Indians, going to and from

the Hudson, by paths, all of which intersected the great Minisink highway.

Their nearest or most direct route from the Hudson to Minisink Island was

through the Great Notch of the First Mountain, four miles above Montclair,

meeting the main path near Little Falls. The other intersecting paths were: At

Montclair where the highway (Bloomfield avenue) crossed the mountain; the notch

at Eagle Rock; the notches of the Mt. Pleasant and the Northfield highways, and

the mountain-crossing at South Orange (South Orange avenue, where it enters the

South Mountain reservation). All these routes led to the Minisink path. They

all crossed this great thoroughfare and were the highways of Indian travel from

the Hudson through the Musconetcong Valley to the Delaware." 




The Dutch

traders found to their surprise that the Hackensacks as well as all other

savages had a name for every path, stream, creek and mountain range, as well as

for every other object in nature which could serve as a guide or landmark to

the traveler. If he took these names in the regular sequence as the red man

gave them to him, remembering the meaning of each as the savage had imparted

it, the trader could make his way for long distances, recognizing each point as

he came to it by the Indian place names. It was thus for many generations that

the natives taught each other how to thread their way up and down and across

New Jersey. These place names answered every purpose of the time quite as

perfectly as guide books, auto-tour books, road maps, etc., do the present-day

denizens of the country. The Dutch officials employed the Indian runners to

carry dispatches between their settlements on the Hudson and the Delaware. The

trip one way was made in something less than five days. 


















 




THE RED MAN

ON THE COAST. 




 




The red man

had his "season" on the Jersey coast. For at least a thousand years

before the watering places that now dot its beaches were thought of, each tribe

had its seashore territories. The hill tribes came down from the uplands,

sometimes by waterway entirely and sometimes by the paths. The earliest

navigators speak in their log books of the swarms of savages noticed on the

Jersey coast. 




The making of

wampum was carried extensively during those summer sojourns, as vast heaps of

fragments of clam and oyster shells and of other shellfish, to be found a few

feet below the surface near the coast, testify. The shellfish were dried,

salted or smoked, spread on sheets of bark and packed away in bales or strung

on strings to be carried back to the uplands in the fall for use during the

winter. The larger fish were treated in much the same fashion. While the women

were busy curing the fish, the men worked at wampum making among the shells.

They removed the mollusks from the shells with clever little tools made out of

jasper, the aboriginal oyster knives. 




With

implements of stone, deftly fashioned, they chipped the shells into little

discs, varying in diameter according to the character of the wampum, often

working them down to the size of a bead. They perforated each disc or bead by

means of a sharp, pencil-like stone which they skillfully rotated between the

hands, using sand and water occasionally to increase the friction. They

polished the edges of the discs and the surfaces of the beads by rubbing upon

stone sprinkled with sand, until they acquired a fine polish. They tested each

bead for smoothness by contact with the nose. The white wampum was reckoned as

the least valuable. The black wampum, so-called, which was made from blueish or

purplish and all other dark colored shells, was the most desired. 




It is

well-nigh certain that the Indians did not use wampum as money until the

arrival of the white man. There is no record of its having been considered as

currency by the Lenni Lenape, at least. Everything they had they held in

common. When they had food, all were filled. They literally had no need for

money. It was a sort of primitive socialism. Wampum was used for bodily

ornament, for the conveying of messages of war, of peace, condolence; for the

binding of agreements of every sort; as an aid to memory and in numberless

other ways which are now lost to us. Manifold meanings were worked into wampum

by the peculiar arrangement of colors and by means of various well recognized

designs and patterns. In every tribe and sub-tribe, there was always someone

skilled in the minute reading of wampum, and the general significance of a belt

or string or collections of strings was known to all adults. 




The Dutch

traders found the Hackensacks highly skillful at wampum making, and the former

were not slow to commercialize it, giving it in barter for furs, foodstuffs,

herbs, etc. Later the white folk took to making wampum which they sold to

traders. This was done in Bergen county within the last century, as late as

1845. 




The Lenni

Lenape were among the most facile in the fashioning of stone implements. They

tooled with infinite care their arrow and spearheads, their chisels, hunting

knives, flesh scrapers, fishline sinkers, fish spears, mortars for the grinding

of corn, and a multitude of other articles whose uses baffle scientists to

determine. Skill in manufacturing industries has therefore been common to the

Newark neighborhood for many centuries. 




 




INDIAN

TRADITIONS AND TRIBAL DIVISIONS. 




 




The old Dutch

pioneers learned many other things about the Indians of New Jersey from their

intercourse with them. To this knowledge was added more gleaned in much the

same way by the English when they took possession in 1664. A few missionaries

contributed their quota, as did the reports and other records of the early

governors and their subordinates. Out of this material we gather all there is

to be known now of the original possessors of the territory. It is by no means

as complete as one might desire. There are many gaps that can never be closed,

and there is here and there a lack of accuracy made manifest by the

contradictory statements found in the various sources. 




The Lenni

Lenape were a branch of the great Algonquin nation. Long before the coming of

the white man they had been beaten in battle by the fierce Iroquois to the

north, and from that time bore the name of "women" among the Iroquois

and other warlike peoples. In compensation for that epithet, given in derision,

they came to be known as wise and safe in counsel, and were often appealed to

by other nations to settle disputes. They showed their wisdom in keeping out of

wars, and although they had been conquered by the Iroquois, they considered

themselves superior to their conquerors because they felt they possessed higher

intelligence. 




The Lenni

Lenape held sway, at one time or another, over a large part of Pennsylvania,

New Jersey and a portion of New York. They were divided into three branches,

the Minsis or Mountaineers, or wolves; the Unamis, or tortoises; the

Unalachtigoes, or turkeys. The Hackensacks seem to have been a sub-tribe of the

Unamis, with the Minsis above and the Unlachtigoes below them. To the traders

and trappers the Lenni Lenape gave various interpretations of their family

name: "our men," "Indian men," "the original or pure

Indian." To be a Lenni Lenape was to have sprung from a very ancient race

of red men, whose blood was unpolluted by that of other nations. To be of the

tribe of Unamis was to have been borne of the most ancient of all the Lenni

Lenape; for, as the old Hackensack chieftains explained, it was the tortoise

who bore the earth on his back and who created all things upon the earth that

were good for man; and the totem of the Unamis was the tortoise. Thus the child

of the forest babbled of his history, a tale in which myth and fact are

inextricably intermingled. If we are to believe him, the Indians who once

called the soil of Newark their own were sprung from the oldest of the three

great divisions of the Lenni Lenape, and the Lenni Lenape were descended from

the very earliest of Indians. 




The Lenni

Lenape were powerfully built, usually of about the average height of the white

men, with dark eyes, glistening white teeth, coarse black hair. Few were

crippled, deformed, cross-eyed or blind. "They preserved their

skins," wrote Charles Wolley in 1701, "by anointing them with the oil

of fishes, the fat of eagles and the grease of raccoons, which they hold in the

summer to be the best antidote to keep their skins from blistering by the

scorching sun, and their best armour against the musketto's * * * * and stopper

of the pores of their bodies against the winter's cold." 




So we learn

that the mosquito has been in the land for ages before our time and in fighting

the pest we are simply continuing an ancient warfare. They seldom used what is

known as wigwams. It is believed, however, that there were a few large

structures called community houses, in which a considerable number of natives

might assemble. It is quite probable that there was a community house in the

old Indian village of Hackensack. But in the main, their houses were mere huts.

This is the way William Penn described the habitations of the Lenni Lenape, in

1683: 




"They

bent down the boughs of saplings and interlaced them, covering this framework

with bark quite thick enough to provide a warm shelter. Sometimes they made

wattled huts, circular or cylindrical in form, thatched and with an inner wall

of mats woven from long reed grass or from sweet flag stalks. Their bedding was

the skins of wild animals, usually the garments they wore when abroad." 
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They were

gentle, and received strangers with the most gracious hospitality. Samuel

Smith, New Jersey's first historian, wrote of them in 1765: "None could

excel them in liberality with the little they had, for nothing was too good for

a friend." 




But they kept

strict watch over their tribal boundaries, as a rule. A Hackensack, for

instance, could fish and hunt in Newark territory and none other. Other tribes

of the Lenni Lenape and those of other peaceful nations had full right to

traverse the Indian highways and to enjoy temporarily the privileges of the

region, but they could not tarry long nor take the fish nor the game nor the

fruits of the fields and the wildwood. It is pretty certain also, that no one

family remained for any great length of time at any one spot, so Newark cannot

be said to have belonged to any one man or small group of red men, since it was

"possessed" only by the tribe; and as we shall see later, was

disposed of to the settlers by the tribe, a few acting as the tribal representatives

and who probably were the last natives to have residence here. 




The Lenni

Lenape had a sincere belief in a Supreme Being, differing but little in its

elements from that of the other savages throughout this section of the country.

They had no comprehension of a life to come such as the Christian religion

teaches. The missionaries found it most difficult to get them to grasp the

tenets of the faith they sought to teach them. 




They were not

at all inclined to admit that the whites were superior to them. They said they

could tell from simply looking at the strangers from across the ocean that they

were not an "original people" like themselves, who had come down from

the beginning of time without contamination by an intermingling with races

other than their own. The white men, said the Lenni Lenape, were clearly the

result of the commingling of various bloods, which meant that they were bound

to be troublesome. The Great Spirit had found it necessary to give the whites a

Big Book (Bible) and to teach them to read it, so that they might know how to

do as he wanted them to do, and how to leave undone the things he did not want

them to do. As for the Lenni Lenape, they did not need such a book from the

Great Spirit, since they knew his wishes out of their hearts. 




"As they

care nothing for the spiritual," wrote a Dutch observer, speaking of the

period of 1621-1632, "they direct their study principally to the physical,

closely studying the seasons. The women there are the most experienced star

gazers; there is scarcely one of them but names all the stars [planets?]; their

rising and setting. But Him who dwells above they know not." 




They had

ceremonies galore, by means of which they sought to placate the Evil One, and

they had solemn festivals at various seasons of the year. There was the feast

of the first fruits of the harvest, the feast after a period of good hunting,

celebrations at weddings and at funerals. It is believed that many of these

were held in the groves along the Yantakah, Yantacaw, or Third River, as we know

it. They are said to have used a kind of incense, made by pouring water upon

burning tobacco. 




There are two

interpretations of the name Yantakah or Yantacaw. By some authorities the word

is understood to have signified to the Lenni Lenape, "extending to the

tidal river," which faithfully describes the stream as it flows into the

Passaic. Others are inclined to believe that Yantakah is a crude combination of

the native words for the ceremonial dances, the Kante Kaey, which they

celebrated on the banks of the stream. 




Few of the

Indian place names for the Newark region have been preserved to us, most unfortunately.

Students of the Lenni Lenape tongue do not explain the meaning of Passaic, to

the satisfaction of modern minds. "Where it divides" is a strict

translation. This may describe the split or chasm at Paterson Falls. Weequahic,

the little creek which for ages has served as a boundary line, first separating

the domains of the Hackensacks and the Raritans, and afterwards as the place of

division between Newark and Elizabethtown, and which now gives its name to a

county park, means simply "the end or head of a creek or run." 
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Marriage,

while it was always gone through with much ceremony, was apparently not

binding, upon the men. They left the women for others when it suited them to do

so, the wife taking the children. The only formidable thing about marriage

among the Lenni Lenape was the name they gave it,

"witach-pungewiwuladt-poagan." They were very careful, however, not

to permit the marriage of members of the same tribe. The men paid but little attention

to their girl-children; they were kept about the mother and learned her simple

but severe tasks of planting and hoeing the corn and beans; preparing the food

and bearing heavy burdens when the family was on the move. But the boys were

trained in the craft of the father with considerable care. They were early

taught the use of the bow and arrow, how to attach the fish hook to the line,

then how to fish; next they learned to spear fish and afterward were shown how

to trap game and to catch fish in the streams by means of brush or bush nets.

The use of the canoe came when the boy was well grown, and the handling of the

stone hatchet in all its forms seems to have been reckoned as one of the more

difficult accomplishments. 




The Lenni

Lenape had many good medicine men among them, who did much more than strive to

exorcise evil spirits from the ill by weird dances and fantastic ceremonial.

Sickness could not always be driven out by horse play and shouting, and one of

the cure-alls was to give the patient a steam bath and then plunge him in the

river. Twelve stones were heated to very high temperature, whereupon these were

rolled into a small hut, usually constructed of bark and often lined with clay

or mud. The patient squatted inside the hut near the stones, when water was

poured upon the latter, the pouring being continued until the spluttering and

sissing ceased. Then followed the cold plunge, which no doubt was the death of

nearly as many as were cured, since this treatment was applied for about every

ill the red man was heir to. 




 




THE INDIANS

AND "FIRE WATER" — INHUMANITY OF THE DUTCH. 




 




The settlers

need have had no serious trouble with the Lenni Lenape. Indeed, the English had

no wars with them in this State. But I here were bloody struggles between the Dutch

and the red men, including our own Hackensacks, which could easily have been

avoided had the whites given the savages considerate treatment. A Scotch

settler at Perth Amboy, the homeland of the Raritans, who were next door

neighboors of the Hackensacks, writing near the close of the seventeenth

century says: "And for the Indian natives, they are not troublesome to any

of us, if we do them no harm, but are a very kind and loving people; the men do

nothing but hunt, and the women they plant corn and work at home." 




There would

have been much less bloodshed during the dominion of the Dutch, had it not been

for the white man's "firewater," the same depressing story written

through and through the records of the early colonization of this country. The

Lenni Lenape had no word in their language for drunkenness. When they were

thirsty they drank water, or the broth from their boiled meat. 




From the

first appearance of the Dutch traders on Manhattan, the chiefs of the

Hackensacks, the Navesinks on Staten Island, the Mohegans, the Raritans, the

Tappans and other neighboring tribes on the western side of the Hudson,

besought the newcomers not to sell their people rum. They quickly saw its

baleful effects, and Oraton or Oratamy, the grand old sachem of the Hackensacks,

was especially urgent and active in this first temperance crusade in New

Jersey. From the all too scant record we have of his doings there is enough to

stamp him as a remarkable character, straightforward and just in his dealings;

possessed of a spirit of kindliness far beyond that of many of the white men

with whom he had dealing. In "lire-water" he clearly saw the undoing

of his people. On several occasions he visited the log houses of the Dutch on

Manhattan and pleaded to have the selling or giving of liquor to the

Hackensacks stopped. 




Serious

trouble did not come in East Jersey until 1640, when the Dutch colonists

angered the Raritans. The natives were accused, although it is now believed

without just foundation, of many thieveries, and the white men sent a punitive

expedition to the Raritan region. A year later the Indians retaliated by

descending upon the scattered homes upon Staten Island, and destroyed the

settlers with the fury and cruelty characteristic of the aborigines when the

battle rage was on. 




The Indians

had now begun to lose confidence in the Dutch. The breach had been widened by

the foolish policy of exacting tribute of maize, wampum and furs. This the red

men resented; they saw no reason why they should play the part of slaves. The Dutch

farmers were continually letting their cattle stray away and the Indians, now

sulky, occasionally killed the cattle and horses. Neither understood the other,

and the Dutch were exceedingly slow in getting to know the peculiarities of the

native character. 




The Dutch, or

their rulers in Manhattan, resolved on war. At this time, the Hackensacks and

neighboring tribes of the Lenni Lenape were in terror because of the incursions

of the Iroquois, Mohawks and others of their copper-skinned enemies from the north.

The Lenni Lenape in desperation appealed to the "Swannekins," as they

called the Dutch, and gathered for protection where the Pavonia section of

Jersey City now is. It was while they were encamped there to the number of

several hundred, relying upon the Dutch promise of protection, that William

Kieft, director-general of New Netherland, resolved to mete out swift

punishment upon them. 
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Eighty

soldiers were sent across the river from Manhattan in the darkness of a

February night in 1643. They fell upon the unsuspecting natives as they slept.

Their barbarities are well nigh indescribable. They murdered men, women and

children alike. They tore the babies from the breasts of their mothers and

threw them into the water, and when parents rushed in to save their offspring,

forced them to drown together. They butchered infants as they lay pinioned to

the boards used as rude cradles; and their wanton lust for killing was not

satisfied until there was none of the savages living of those who had been

unable to flee under cover of darkness. The dead numbered over eighty. 




The war raged

up and down the west bank of the Hudson. All the Lenni Lenape in what is now

upper New Jersey put on their war paint, upwards of eleven tribes taking the

field. They laid waste every settler's home, until the region was rid of the

white folk as completely as before their first appearance. Peace was declared

in the spring of 1643, but it did not last long as the natives now mistrusted

every move of the white man. It is not at all probable that the fighting

extended as far inland as the district on which Newark now stands, and the

vague tales of a battle around a huge rock in what is now the Eagle Rock

reservation, are scarcely to be credited. The Dutch were careful to keep near

their base of supplies, Manhattan — once they came to realize what a terrible

foe the red man could be when aroused. The war was not even carried as far as

the Indian village at Hackensack, although the braves of the whole tribe took

active part in it. In the fighting after the flimsy treaty of peace of 1643,

fully seven of the tribes, chiefly of the Lenni Lenape, were enrolled. 




The Indians

had become more crafty by this time; they exposed themselves very little,

stealing up on the farmhouses and "bouweries" and firing the thatched

roofs with flaming arrows or by hurling brands. Unlike the Dutch, they usually

spared the women and children, taking them into captivity. Time and again they

showed themselves more humane than their misguided antagonists. We know this

from accounts of the sanguinary proceedings left by Dutchmen who were not in

sympathy with the high-handed methods pursued by Kieft. Actual peace was at

last declared, and one of the signers of the treaty was Oritaney, or Oraton, chief

of the Hackensacks. 
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The second

and last war in which the Hackensacks had any part broke out twelve years

later, in 1655, and was the more terrible of the two. There were petty

encounters during the long interval, which served to keep the Hackensacks and

their neighbors more or less restive, and which really prepared the way for the

last desperate struggle. 




Hostilities

came when a Dutchman who had an orchard on the hillside in what is now Hoboken,

from which the Indians had pilfered considerable fruit, resolved to put a stop

to the annoyance. He lay in wait for the offenders one dark night. When he saw

someone approaching the orchard he fired, and killed an Indian girl. The

savages at once lit their beacon fires and swarmed to the west side of the

Hudson. They filled sixty-four canoes and went in pursuit of the unlucky Dutch

fruit grower, who had fled to New Amsterdam. They searched that village until

they found him, killing the Dutchman who had taken him in, and wounding the

cause of the trouble in the breast with one of their arrows. 




By this time

the men of New Amsterdam had begun to assemble, and the red men ran to their

canoes and put back to Hoboken. Soon the whole series of little settlements,

from Weehawken to Staten Island, were in flames. Every house was burned. One

hundred whites were killed, one hundred and fifty taken captives, and over

three hundred more made homeless. In this war the Hackensacks and their allies

seem to have been less humane than in the first. They fought with demoniac

fury, as if they knew this was to be their last stand in this region against

the white men. Peace was not made secure for several months, when the Indians

demanded a ransom for the captives, which the Dutch paid. In one case the price

was seventy-eight pounds of gunpowder and forty staves of lead, for a group of

twenty-eight captives. 
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War, rum, and

disease, much of the latter caused by excesses springing from indulgence in

rum, had greatly reduced the number of the natives. It is believed also that

many of them had before the last war made their flight westward to get away

from the white man. In 1758 a counsel was called by Governor Bernard, of New

Jersey, which resulted in the extinguishment by the Colonial government of all

claims of the Lenni Lenape to lands in New Jersey, with the exception of the

right to hunt and fish in all unenclosed lands. The Indians were, furthermore,

provided with a reservation — the first in the whole United States — in

Burlington county, on the Delaware. Three thousand acres were set aside for.

their exclusive use, largely through the exertions of the Rev. John Brainerd,

whose brother David, had previously worked as a missionary, chiefly among the

Susquehannas, and who had virtually given up his life for them, dying of

consumption resulting from hardship and exposure. They called the place

Brotherton. 




The last of

the Lenni Lenape in New Jersey remained quietly in their reservation until

1802, taking no part as a race in the stirring events of the War for

Independence, although a few of their young men, who had become at least partly

civilized, fought in Washington's army. The remnant of the original owners of

the Jersey soil removed to a reservation near Oneida Lake, New York, in 1802,

joining forces with another Indian race with whom their fathers had been

friendly for generations. A few years later they were all transported to Fox

River, Wisconsin, naming their new village Statesburg. In 1832 but forty of

them were left, and about that time they sent one of their own men, a graduate

of Princeton, to ask the Legislature to buy their ancient hunting and fishing

rights which had not been cancelled. This was promptly done, the price paid

being about $3,000. 




This ended

all formal connection between the State of New Jersey and the Indians. It is

possible that if diligent search were made throughout the Indian reservations

of the country a very few might be found who can lay fair claim to having Lenni

Lenape blood in their veins. 




The last one

of the race in this State, of whom there is anything like an authentic record,

was an old woman, called "Indian Ann," who died in Burlington county

about 1890. She claimed to be the daughter of a man, who, at the time of the

removal of the Lenni Lenape to New York State, refused to go. There was but a

small handful of the race in this section of New Jersey when Newark was founded,

probably not more than five hundred. None of the Lenni Lenape had serious

trouble with the English, from the time of their arrival, in 1664. Certain it

is that the Hackensacks lived in amity with the settlers of Newark until the

last little band of them went trailing sorrowfully away across the State to the

reservation in Brotherton.  




The last

surviving remnants of the Lenni Lenape or Delaware Indians are now (1913) in

Canada and in Oklahoma. A wealth of interesting material upon the New Jersey

Indians is contained in "A Preliminary Report of the Archaeological Survey

of the State of New Jersey, made by the Department of Anthropology in the

American Museum of Natural History," issued by the State Geological

Survey, in May, 1913. The Archaeological Survey was created in 1912 by an act

of the Legislature, and the report just referred to covers the first year's

work of this new bureau. Nearly a thousand sites, camps, burial grounds and

rock shelters have already been located. The Survey has not as yet (1913) made

any investigations in Essex county. 





CHAPTER III. Puritan Unrest — The English and New Jersey.





THE first

white men to look upon the country we now call Newark are believed to have been

a small boat's crew sent out by Henry Hudson at the time of his discovery of

the river that bears his name, in September, 1609. John Coleman, in charge of

the boat, left the Half Moon with orders to explore the region back of the

Great River. He found his way into what is now Newark Bay, proceeded far enough

to make sure that the Passaic did not lead to the Northwest Passage his chief

was fruitlessly seeking, and started back. This first glimpse of the region was

costly, for the white men became embroiled with the Indians who attacked them

in canoes, and Coleman was shot dead by an arrow, which pierced his throat. The

crew reported it had observed an "open sea," Newark Bay, after

penetrating two leagues; and the following, taken from the Half Moon's log, is

believed to refer to the country round about it as "pleasent with Grasse

and Flowers and goodly Trees as any they had seene, and very sweet smells came

from them." Somewhere in the sands of Jersey the bones of Coleman have

crumbled away. If only the spot could have been found and its location

preserved! 




More than

half a hundred years were to march by before settlement was to be made in the

Newark region. The Dutch, partly because of their troubles with the Indians,

did not attempt to make homes here. A few sturdy souls are thought to have set

up their homes here and there along the upper Passaic and Hackensack rivers.

They called this whole neighborhood Achter Col, or Kol, meaning "back of

the Bay," thus describing its location with reference to the upper harbor

of New Amsterdam. They were slow and unprogressive, contenting themselves with

drawing on the region for its fur-bearing animals and such wild products as

could be gathered without much labor. 




The English

settlers on Long Island and in lower New England had their eyes on the Newark

region for a quarter of a century before the actual settlement. As early as

1643 negotiations with a view to the establishment of a town thereabouts were

entered into with the Dutch at New Amsterdam by a small group, believed to have

been Long Island English, who were chafing under the heavy conditions the Dutch

imposed upon them there. Nothing came of this proposition. These people had no

doubt explored the "Achter Col" country on their own account and had

grasped its great possibilities as a permanent abiding place. As their towns on

Long Island were offshoots of New England they no doubt told their Puritan

brethren on the Connecticut mainland of the attractiveness of the land west of

the Hudson and on the shores of a large inner bay where none abode but savages.
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The Puritan

pioneers on Long Island were for the most part bands of the most uncompromising

and conservative Puritans, less liberal than the Pilgrim Fathers of the

Plymouth Colony and more closely allied with the Puritans of the New Haven

colony, where a determined effort was being made to build up a theocratic form

of government. In many instances they would permit no one to have any voice in

public affairs unless he was a member of one of the Congregational churches.

When the New Haven Colony — from whence the founders of Newark came — was

established, in 1638, a "Fundamental Agreement" was drawn up and

signed by all the settlers, binding themselves to three principles: 1.

"That the Word of God shall be the only Rule attended unto in ordering the

affairs of Government." 2. That they should "cast themselves into

that mold and form of commonwealth which appeareth best, in reference to the

securing of the pure and peaceable enjoyment of all Christ, His ordinances in

the Church according to God." 3. "That the free burgesses shall be

chosen from Church members, and they only shall choose magistrates and officers

among themselves to have the power of transacting all public civil affairs of

the plantation." 
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From the

above it will be seen that with these Puritans, Church and State were to be so

closely bound together as to discourage all of different religious faith coming

among them. They not only signed the "Fundamental Agreement"

themselves, but they pledged themselves to compel all who might afterward enter

the colony to stay, to subscribe to, or abide by it. You might, if you were not

a Puritan, make your home in the New Haven Colony, but you must sign away all

right to participate in government. They went further than the Pilgrim Fathers

of Plymouth, who admitted others than Puritans to suffrage, for only upon such

foundation could they conceive of a commonwealth that would satisfy their

intense yearning for the purest form of government possible upon earth. All

must be of one mind and heart, they said to each other continually, or there

can be no peaceful and clean life of the kind that a good man's conscience

urges. 




The Puritans

were reformers who had fought a losing fight for many years in England. They

were the English expression of a "new idea" movement that had long

been stirring in Europe. Since government by man alone was being proven a

miserable failure so far as the great mass of the people were concerned, they

argued that God, through His Church, must be man's guide if man was to approach

the happy state on earth that God had made possible for him. The nations of the

earth must inevitably become even as Sodom and Gomorrah unless the rulers

governed constantly in the fear of God and in strict obedience to conscience,

which was God's voice. All that they saw in the workings of government about

them in England tended to convince them of the strength of their position. The

New Haven Colony men were among the strictest adherents to this conception. 




Disheartened

and discouraged by the corruption and greed of the crown and its officers and

adherents, despairing of ever being permitted to live their lives in the purity

of faith they felt essential and without which they could see no hope for

England's future, the Pilgrim Fathers, the first of the Puritans to migrate,

had left their native country, going first to Holland. There, while they

enjoyed absolute freedom to worship God in their own way, in common with

thousands of other reformers of other faiths who had found asylum there from

various parts of Europe, they did not relish losing their identity as English

and Puritans. For these reasons the Pilgrim Fathers came to America. The

Pilgrims never proposed, however, to separate themselves completely from

England and all her institutions, and they intended to support the laws of the

mother country, actively when they believed in them and passively when they did

not. 




In the New

Haven Colony, however, the founders asked for nothing from England. They were

to get their laws and ordinances, their whole theory and practical working

scheme of government, from the Bible. "Wisdom hath builded her house; she

hath hewn out her seven pillars," says Proverbs ix, i, and this they took

to be God's specific ruling and literally applicable to their own case, and

chose seven men who, besides having supreme charge of the affairs of the church,

had also the highest civic functions. These "seven pillars" chose the

first governor and four deputies to assist him, while they themselves acted as

magistrates. There were no juries, because the Mosaic law made no mention of

any. 
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It is not

easy for us of this day to comprehend how men of the highest intelligence, some

of them eminent students of history and close observers of all existing forms

of government, could frame such a commonwealth and seriously expect it to

endure. They had fled from intolerance, but no sooner did they have freedom to

follow their own devices, untrammeled for a time by the home government, than

they drew up the most drastic of laws and enforced them with grim harshness. It

was in the very tolerance of the Pilgrims of Plymouth that the New Havenites

and others thought they saw the ultimate collapse of that colony as a

God-fearing community, so they thought to escape that eventuality by imposing

the dictates of their own consciences upon all others who should seek to abide

among them. In so far as it applied to the State, it was a most pronounced sort

of bossism that these reformers had immediately fallen into; a menace that has

ever hovered close to the skirts of reform since the world began. 




These Puritan

reformers were, says Stearns in his History of the First Church of Newark,

"full of the spirit of that animating vision which continually floated

before their minds, to found a church upon pure principles, and a State which,

though separated in its jurisdiction, should act in perfect harmony with the

church and be governed in all its procedure by the rules of God's holy word.

They seem to have supposed that by bringing up their children in the fear of

God and excluding from the exercise of power among them those who were not

governed by the same principles, they might continue to be of one heart from

generation to generation." 




So they

erected their colony, the chief towns being New Haven and Milford on one side

of New Haven harbor, and Branford and Guilford on the other. This was to be the

last attempt but one of the Puritans in America to build up a theocracy. It was

to take nearly thirty years to prove that a Kingdom of God on earth, an

"Isle of Innocence" could not be made to work in the New Haven

Colony; after which the final attempt was to be made by people of these four

towns, in Newark. The towns were well located and they gradually prospered. New

drafts of Pilgrims arrived, some from England and others from different

sections of New England. Nearly all of them made excellent members of the

communities, but not all could subscribe fully to the tenets of the Puritan

church as there set up. These chafed under the lack of suffrage, denied them

because they were not full church members, according to New Haven Colony

doctrine. 
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The colony of

Connecticut was also growing, but it was more tolerant toward the newcomers,

more alive to the changing conditions of the times. New Haven eyed

Connecticut's increasing strength askance. Discussion and dissension arose over

the restraints put upon government by the church. It does not appear that

members of the Established Church of England or of the Roman Catholic faith

ever sought admission to the New Haven Colony, but the possibility of the

coming of Quakers roused it to a pitch of intense excitement and caused the

enactment of laws that well serve to illustrate the severity of the government.

The persecution of Quakers in the New Haven Colony was nearly as harsh and

intolerant as in Massachusetts. If a Quaker came into the colony on business he

was to be permitted to dispatch it, while accompanied by a guard, and was to be

ejected as soon as his business was done. Anyone who harbored Quakers "or

other blasphemous hereticks" was to forfeit fifty pounds sterling. If a

Quaker showed an inclination not to abide by this law he was to be thrown into

prison, severely whipped and put at hard labor for a term to be fixed by the

magistrate. For a second offense a Quaker was to be branded with the letter

"H" (for "heretic") on the hand, and imprisoned. For the

third offense the other hand was to be branded, and for the fourth offense the

tongue was to be bored with a hot iron. To bring Quaker books into the colony

meant the imposition of a fine of five pounds. Some of these penalties were

meted out upon a few. But not many came into the colony, naturally enough. 




These

anti-Quaker laws were put in operation in 1658. On the other hand the Colony of

Connecticut was becoming even more liberal. She kept her skirts quite clean of

severe practices, persecuting no sect, although striving to preserve the purity

of her church. Under pressure of the increasing demand for a wider suffrage,

Connecticut decided to admit to citizenship "persons of civil, peaceable

and honest conversation," reducing the property requirement from thirty

pounds to twenty. "The privilege of a freeman," says Cobb in his

"The Rise of Religious Liberty in America," "was never made in

Connecticut a perquisite of religion, nor conditioned on church

membership." These conditions in the neighboring colony served to

aggravate the discontent in New Haven. A new generation was arising which could

not see things in the stern, hard light of its fathers. 




 




NEW HAVEN

COLONY MERGED WITH CONNECTICUT. 




 




In 1662 the

New Haven Colony was merged with Connecticut by the King's order. New Haven's

theocracy vanished then and there, and those of the latter colony who could not

in conscience subscribe to the scheme of government in operation in the former,

determined to depart; and thus Newark came to be. 




King Charles

II had never looked upon New Haven Colony with kindly eyes. Some of its

founders and their fathers were among the fiercest of his royal father's foes;

they were among the iron men who fought with Cromwell. Moreover, they had long

harbored two of the regicides, the judges who pronounced sentence of death upon

Charles I. The son no doubt took grim pleasure in wiping their establishment

out of existence. 




There are

signs that the New Haven leaders had begun to realize that their theocracy

could not much longer endure exactly as they had planned, it for several years

before the consolidation of the two colonies. It is pretty certain, however,

that they would all have remained in the new Connecticut had it not been for

the fact that that colony, while refusing longer to recognize church membership

as a necessary qualification for citizenship, was now permitting those who were

not church members a voice in the making of laws that governed the church. This

jeopardized the purity of the church, according to the New Haven view, and it

was to them an unendurable condition; to accept it would have meant a sacrifice

of conscience. True, the Connecticut lawmakers were careful to hedge this

innovation about with various restrictions, but the fact remained that while

the State retained authority over the church, the State at the same time gave

to those outside its religious influence the power to influence it, by right of

suffrage. 




 




PASTOR

PIERSON'S ACTIVITIES. 




 




No one man

was more active in promoting the religious excitement that culminated in

removal from the New Haven Colony than the Rev. Abraham Pierson. In 1640 he was

the spiritual leader of a company of Puritans that left Lynn, Massachusetts,

and founded Southampton, Long Island, for the purpose of rearing a

Church-and-State form of government similar to that started two years before at

New Haven. It is a question whether the Rev. Pierson's church at Southampton

was the first of any denomination on Long Island, or that at Southold, which

was also a Puritan organization. In any event, there were very few months'

difference between them. Four years later Southampton was annexed to

Connecticut, which so displeased Pastor Pierson that he removed to the town of

Branford in the New Haven Colony with whose high-minded theocratic views he was

far more in sympathy than with the liberalism of Connecticut. 




In Branford,

Pastor Pierson, with the few followers who had accompanied him from

Southampton, with the people of Branford and others from the town of

Weathersfield, founded the church society, which later was to be transferred to

Newark. This city's original church organization, the First Presbyterian as it

is known to-day, is therefore about twenty years older than the city itself. 




 




EARLY EFFORTS

FOR A NEW SETTLEMENT. 




 




As early as 1661, five years before the actual removal from the New

Haven region, and a year before the actual absorption of the colony in

Connecticut, the leaders among those who were determined not to become part and

parcel of the Connecticut commonwealth, were casting about for a place of

settlement. In the old Dutch records of New Amsterdam for that year are found

copies of letters written to Governor Peter Stuyvesant by a small committee of

New Haven men, seeking terms and conditions under which they might take up land

in that part of New Netherland that was very soon to be known as New Jersey.

Among those who signed these letters were two of the most forceful of Newark's

founders, Robert Treat and Jasper Crane. They even went to New Amsterdam and

saw Stuyvesant, were pleasantly entertained by him and are believed to have

visited the Achter Col in Stuyvesant's barge and gazed upon the land that later

was to become Newark.  




In all

probability an agreement would have been arrived at in due process of time, but

the sudden seizure of New Netherland by the English, in 1664, and the

consequent collapse of Dutch sovereignty, made it necessary for the prospective

colonizers to begin operations all over again and this time with their own race

from across the seas. 




The Puritans,

especially those in Connecticut and New Haven colonies, had little affection

for the Dutch. As early as 1640 a company of New Haven merchants had fitted out

a ship and sent it to the Delaware to trade with the Indians and establish

trading posts. The Dutch and Swedes, under the direction of the Dutch governor

at New Amsterdam, confiscated their ship and goods, destroyed their trading

houses and threw them into prison. Nine years later, members of New Haven

Colony resolved to set up plantations upon Delaware Bay in the neighborhood of

their previous operations. Again a ship was equipped, but it lingered off New

Amsterdam, and the energetic Stuyvesant, being apprised of the Puritans'

designs upon the Delaware, placed his heavy official hand upon the ship, its

papers and crew. He told the ship's company if they did not go back to their

homes he would send them to the Netherlands as prisoners if he found any of

them on the Delaware. If they resisted arrest there, he told them he would

fight them to the last extremity — and they knew he meant it. 




Thus this

expedition was thwarted. The New Haven Colony was ready to take extreme

measures to support its merchants in their claims to land upon the Delaware, if

the other New England colonies would unite with them. This the sister colonies

refused to do. The merchants' rights to Delaware lands were based upon a

purchase for thirty pounds Stirling of large tracts on either side of the river

from an English company called the New Albion Company, whose principal, Lord

Ploydon, or Ploeydon, claimed to have received a grant from King James the

First of the greater part of the territory between Maryland and New England.

The Dutch, of course, refused to acknowledge the authority of King James or any

other English monarch to the partition of what they believed to be their

property by right of Henry Hudson's discovery. 




For a time

the New Haven merchants despaired of re-establishing their plantations on the

Delaware, and it was while they were in a state of quiescence that the

colonization movement, which resulted in the actual foundation of Newark, was

incubating. 




 




ENGLISH

CONQUEST OF DUTCH TERRITORY. 




 




As soon as

the English had captured New Amsterdam the whole territory between the

Connecticut and Delaware rivers fell into England's hands with no serious

resistance, and Colonel Richard Nicholls, previously equipped with the

necessary credentials by King Charles II, at the instance of James, Duke of

York, became its governor in place of the doughty old Stuyvesant. The English

had long claimed the ownership of New Netherland, by the right of discovery of

the mainland of North America by John and Sebastian Cabot, sailing under the

English flag, in 1497 and 1498. The Dutch were well aware of these claims,

which may account in some small measure for their failure to colonize New

Jersey more extensively than they did, fearing perhaps that some day the

English might prove powerful enough to enforce the shadowy claims derived from

the coastwise cruises of the Cabots. 




Whatever we may think of the methods taken by England to possess itself

of New Netherland, the virtual end of Dutch rule here marks the beginning of

the real development of this wonderful country which we now so proudly call New

Jersey. King Charles II gave New Netherland, the land between the Connecticut

and Delaware rivers, including certain territories on Long Island, to his

brother, James, Duke of York. In fact this grant was made while the Dutch were

still in possession, and Colonel Nicholls was sent out by the Duke to clear the

Dutch from his new possessions. While Nicholls' fleet was still on the sea, the

Duke executed deeds of lease and release to two of the staunchest defenders of

the crown, Lord John Berkeley, Baron of Stratton, and Sir George Carteret of

Saltrum in Devon, of all New Jersey, including Staten Island. It was named Nova

Caesarea, or New Jersey, since the ancient name of the island of Jersey was

Caesarea, and it was the valorous defense of this island against the forces of

Parliament in the time of Cromwell that had won for Carteret his high favor

with the Duke of York and his brother, the King. 




 




NEW JERSEY AS

THE ENGLISH FOUND IT. 




 




But their new

possessions were of little value to the two noblemen, as the land then lay; a

fringe of Dutch farms and bouweries along the west bank of the lower Hudson and

on Staten Island, a sprinkling of houses along the Passaic and Hackensack

valleys, small settlements of Dutch and Swedes on the Delaware, and the great

wilderness between, peopled by perhaps two thousand savages. If the Dutch had

made little out of these "talents," the two new English owners did

not propose to let them remain as it were, "wrapped in a napkin." 




 




THE LORDS

PROPRIETORS' "CONCESSIONS." 




 




They must

have colonists, and they set about with ingenuity and cleverness to get them.

They undoubtedly knew of the troubled conditions in some of the New England

settlements, especially of the situation in the recently absorbed New Haven

Colony and while they zealously sought colonists at home they also proceeded to

make known to the Puritans and others in their country what they had to offer

in the way of settling places, what they would take for them, and what

restrictions would be put upon the holdings. They did this by means of a

printed announcement, whose title was: "The Concession and Agreement of

the Lords Proprietors of the Province of New Caesarea or New Jersey, to and with

all and every of the Adventurers and all such as shall settle and plant

there." 




These

Concessions mark the opening of the first era of progress and prosperity in New

Jersey. They were fair, for the times, and frank on the face, and the people

saw in them something of that which we of to-day are fond of calling the

"square deal." The "Concessions" were the constitution upon

which the new government was to be built up and were considered by the settlers

as the virtual charter of their liberties, standing over and above all acts of

the assembly which were subject to repeal and amendment while the

"Concessions" were supposed to remain unchangeable. Unhappily, the

"Concessions" did not prove so inviolable as the first settlers

hoped. 




 




THE FORM OF

GOVERNMENT. 




 




Under the

"Concessions" the new province was to have a Govnor and a Governor's

Council of not less than six nor more than twelve, selected by the Governor;

there was also to be an Assembly of twelve, chosen each year by the freemen of

the province. The nominating, commissioning and removing of oflicers was given

over to the Governor and his Council. But they were to appoint only freeholders

unless the Assembly agreed to the appointment of others. The Governor and

Council were to have general supervision over the courts and over all those who

were to see to the enforcement of the laws of the Province. The Assembly's

consent had to be obtained before any tax could be levied upon the people. 




 




FUNCTIONS OF

THE ASSEMBLY. 




 




The Assembly,

under the "Concessions," was empowered "to pass laws for the

good government of the Province, which, with the approbation of the Governor,

were to remain in force for one year within which time they were to be

submitted for the approval of the Lords Proprietors; to levy taxes, to create

ports, to build forts, to raise militia, to suppress rebellion, and make war,

to naturalize strangers, and to apportion lands to settlers. Should occasion

require, communication could be made by the representatives, touching the

conduct of the Governor and Council, or any other grievance, directly to the

Lords Proprietors." — — — 




 




INDUCEMENTS

OFFERED SETTLERS. 




 




Special

encouragement was offered to those who should embark with the first governor on

the new venture, or meet him on his arrival. General directions as to how towns

and boroughs should be laid out were given, and care was to be taken to see

that each settler received clear title to his land and was protected in that

title. For every acre of land the owner was to pay a half-penny yearly, as quit-rent,

but this was not to go into effect until 1670. All settlers who became subjects

of England, swearing allegiance to the King and fidelity to the Lords

Proprietors, were assured of the full right to liberty of conscience, so long

as that liberty was not used "to licentiousness, to the civil injury or

outward disturbance of others." While the assembly of the Province was to

be permitted to appoint as many ministers of the Gospel as it saw fit, and

provide out of the general funds for their support (meaning, of course,

clergymen of the Established Church of England), groups of settlers might

maintain such ministers as they preferred. 




It is plain

enough from the above summary of the "Concessions," that the New

Haven men who were now shortly to found Newark under this new government were

to set up the last Puritan theocracy under far less favorable conditions than

they had known in New England. There they had been surrounded with those of

their own religious belief and under a government of their own making. Here

they were to share the right to exercise the liberty of conscience with all

other decent folk, subject to the whims of that very government from whose

tyranny they had fled. 




The Lords

Proprietors believed themselves not only in absolute possession of the land,

but clothed with all authority necessary for the conduct of government. They

were not given governmental power by the Duke of York, specifically, although

by implication, and it is certain that James never intended that they should

exercise it to the extent they did. Why he failed to take it from them (and

indeed it is believed by many students that it was not possible in law for him

to have given it to them anyway) does not appear. A few years after the English

conquest of New Netherland the Dutch recaptured it, in 1673, soon after ceding

it to England. The capture by the Dutch wiped out all title to the land held by

Berkeley's successors and Carteret. James thus had an excellent opportunity to

expunge the clause that gave them this power by implication, in the new patent

he gave them. But he did not do this. 




 




THE

TROUBLE-MAKING NICHOLLS GRANTS. 




 




Five years

before the Dutch reconquest, Governor Nicholls had returned to England and had

told James of the richness of his territory and of that which the latter had

ceded to Berkeley and Carteret. Indeed, Nicholls when originally sent out to

drive the Dutch from New Netherland had been given no intimation by his noble

superior, but what the latter intended to retain the entire region for himself;

and soon after his arrival on Manhattan Nicholls had issued a grant for two

large and exceedingly valuable tracts in what is now New Jersey, to a few

families of English from Long Island, known as the Monmouth and the

Elizabethtown purchases. 




When the

representatives of Berkeley and Carteret arrived they objected to this

disposition of part of their land, and a mighty controversy arose, which was

not entirely settled at the outbreak of the War for Independence. There was

great difficulty in clearing up and properly adjusting the titles to the land

as a result of insufficient care in the very beginnings of New Jersey. 




 




THE DUKE OF

YORK ANNEXES STATEN ISLAND. 




 




That James,

Duke of York, regretted his concession of such a splendid property to Berkeley

and Carteret we well know by one transaction, if by no other evidence. At the

time of Governor Nicholls' visit to England, in 1668, James withdrew Staten

Island from New Jersey, giving as his reason that it was really a part of his

own Province, of New York, since "one arm of the Hudson river flowed

around it." 




All that the

Duke required of the two old cavaliers in return for New Jersey was the payment

of ten shillings, a rent of one peppercorn for the first year and a rent of 40

nobles annually thereafter "if required." 




After a time

the two original proprietors, first Berkeley and later Carteret, disposed of

their rights to others. Presently there were two groups of proprietors, one for

East and the other for West Jersey. Later the proprietary rights became so

involved and inconvenient to handle, and the proprietors so many, while the

governmental power was seen to more and more clearly devolve upon the crown,

that the proprietors were glad to surrender their rights, in 1702. 




 




THE THREE

EPOCHS OF ENGLISH GOVERNMENT IN NEW JERSEY. 




 




English

government in New Jersey falls logically into three periods: Government of all

the territory by one group of proprietors, 1664-1674; by two groups, 1674-1702;

and by the crown, 1702-1776. The Colony was divided into East and West Jersey,

under what is known as the Quintipartite Deed, July 1, 1676. 




It has been

necessary to outline the conditions prevailing in New Jersey when the makers of

Newark sought asylum in it, both because a clear understanding of the town's

establishment and early days can not be gained without it, and because the

founding of Newark was practically coincidental with the creation of the

Province. New Jersey and Newark began within a year of each other. 


















 




CHAPTER IV. Preparations for the Settlement.




THE first

governor of New Jersey, Philip Carteret, a fourth cousin of the Lord Proprietor

of that name, arrived in August, 1665, with a considerable company. He

established himself at Elizabethtown, where he found a few settlers already on

the ground, holding a grant for the territory from Governor Nicholls of New

York, reference to which was made near the close of the last chapter. Although

claiming full title to the land as representative of Lords Berkeley and

Carteret, as soon as he found that title in dispute and the claims of those on

the ground sustained by Governor Nicholls, Philip Carteret decided to lose no

time in controversy, little dreaming of the long-drawn-out wrangle that was to

follow. He took up land at Elizabethtown as one of the party there before him, as

an individual settler, his companions doing likewise. These preliminaries

disposed of, the governor dispatched his agents into New England with copies of

the "Grants and Concessions" already described. 




 




SELECTING THE

TOWN SITE. 




 




Thus the

discontented members of the recently extinguished New Haven Colony found their

opportunity disclosed to them. A way was now opened for thorn to go and abide

in the region which had attracted them for many years. They sent a small

committee, composed of Robert Treat and John Gregory, to confer with Governor

Carteret at Elizabethtown. Satisfied with their welcome, Treat and Gregory

started out upon the selection of a suitable town site. They proceeded in their

boat down the coast to the Delaware, and viewed with some favor the spot where

Burlington now stands. 




 




THE VISIT TO

THE DELAWARE. 




 




They knew of

the Delaware river and valley from the efforts of some of their neighbors in

the New Haven Colony to set up trading posts there. Possibly they had another

motive which has never before, the writer believes, been touched upon. They

were, as we have seen, Pilgrims going out into strange lands to rear a

community around their church and to worship God according to their own ideals.

The first Puritans who came to America, the Pilgrim Fathers, had started from

Holland with the intention of locating much further south than they did; it is

believed they proposed to make their homes upon the Delaware. But wind and wave

were against the Mayflower and forced her to make landing at Plymouth, after

two or three ineffectual efforts to cruise southward to a milder climate. As it

had been intended to first set up Puritan ideals on or near the Delaware, the

Newark colonizers seem to have felt that it might be that God intended them to

proceed as the Puritan pioneers of over forty years before had striven to do

and failed. 




But the

little committee was not to be controlled by sentiment. At Burlington the new

town would have been almost alone in the wilderness. Philadelphia was as yet

unthought of and there were only a few Dutch and Swedish hamlets along the

river shores, upon whose friendliness and assistance in time of stress the New

Englanders must have felt they would not be able to rely. There were warlike

Indians, too, not in New Jersey, but uncomfortably near in the Pennsylvania

that was to be. So they returned to Elizabethtown and from there proceeded up

the bay and into the Passaic, inspecting the region as closely as was possible

from their boats. They were charmed with what they saw. To an extent at least —

although not of course with a prescience that could picture the territory as we

now know it — they realized its possibilities. The Indians thereabouts were

peaceful; a town, an English town and the seat of the governor, peopled partly

by Puritans, was struggling into life but a few miles away, at Elizabethtown,

and from there it was but a short cruise along the narrow channel of the Kill

van Kull, out into the greater bay and thence to New York. Their minds were

made up, and back to Connecticut they hastened in their little sailing vessel,

to report what they had found, carrying Governor Carteret's personal assurances

in supplement of the "Concessions." Their decision was of infinite

importance. They had with an unerring insight and good judgment, closely akin

to inspiration, selected the best spot in all New Jersey for a town. 




And how did

they describe the region to their people waiting anxiously in the homes they

were so soon to leave? Fortunately, we know how the region impressed others at

that time, and we may be very sure that Robert Treat and his companion on the

voyage of investigation gave a description somewhat similar. 




 




SEVENTEENTH

CENTURY ESTIMATES OF THE NEWARK REGION. 




 




The

following, written in 1661, was found among the official documents of the Dutch

government of New Netherland, done into the quaint English of the time and

designed to apply to all of what is now New Jersey, but undoubtedly referring

especially to the "Achter Col," or Newark Bay neighborhood, since

that was the section of New Jersey with which the Dutch were most familiar: 




"It is

under the best climate in the whole world; seed may be thrown into the ground,

except 6 weekes, all the yeere longe; there are five sorts of grapes which are

very good and grow heere naturally, with divers other excellent fruits

extraordinary good, and ye fruits transplanted from Europe far surpasseth any

there, as apples, pears, peaches, melons, etc., and the land very fertile produceth

a great increase of wheat and all other game whatsoever; here groweth tobacco

very good; it naturally abounds with all sorts of dyes, furrs of all sorts may

bee had of the natives very reasonable; stores of saltpeter; marvellous plenty

in all kinds of food; excellent veneson, elkes very great and large; all kinds

of land and sea foule that are naturally in Europe are heere in great plenty,

with severall sorts vt Europe doth not enjoy; the sea and rivers abounding with

excellent fat and wholesome fish which are heere in great plenty; the

mountainous part of the country stored with severall sorts of mineralls; great

profit to be derived from traffique with the natives * * * heere may likewise

bee great profitt made by fishing whereby abundance of people may bee imployed

with great and notable advantages." 




A delightful

account of the Achter Col region was written in 1670 by Daniel Denton, one of

the English settlers of Elizabethtown, who came from Long Island. Like the

Dutch account given above, Denton's narrative is manifestly prepared to attract

settlers. Both are what to-day would be considered "publicity"

circulars, devised to popularize the region and attract colonists; and yet,

both are clearly quite faithful to the facts, as the old observers saw them: 




"I may

say," begins Denton, "and say truly, that if there be any terrestrial

happiness to be had by people of all ranks, especially of an inferior rank, it

must certainly be here: here anyone may furnish himself with land, and live

rent-free [he had not yet felt the goad of the quit-rent] yea, with such a

quantity of Land that he may weary himself with walking over his fields of Corn

and all sorts of Grain and let his stock of Cattel amount to some hundreds he

needs not fear their want of pasture in the summer, or fodder in the winter,

the woods affording sufficient supply." And he continues: 




"For the

Summer season, where you have Grass as high as a man's knees, nay, as high as

his waste, interlaced with Pea vines and other weeds that Cattel much delight

in, as much as a man can pass through; and these woods every mile or half-mile

are furnished with fresh ponds, brooks or rivers, where all sorts of Cattel,

during the heat of the day, do quench their thirst and cool themselves; these

brooks and rivers being invironed of each side with several sorts of trees and

Grape-vines, the vines, arbor-like, interchanging places and crossing these

rivers, does shade and shelter them from the scorching beams of Sol's fiery

influence. 




"And how

prodigal, if I may so say, hath nature been to furnish the Countrey with all

sorts of wilde Beastes and Fowle, which everyone hath an interest in and may

hunt at his pleasure; where besides the pleasure in hunting, he may furnish his

house with excellent fat venison, Turkeys, Geese, Heath Hens, Cranes, Swans,

Ducks, Pidgeons and the like; and wearied with this he may go a fishing * * * *

where besides the sweetness of the air the Countrey itself sends forth such a

fragrant smell that it may be preceived at Sea before they make the land; where

no evil fog of vapour doth not sooner appear but a Northwest or Westerly wind

doth immediately dissolve it and drive it away. I must needs say that if there

be any Terrestrial Canaan, 'tis surely here, where the Land floweth with milk and

honey." 




 




INCENSE OF

THE FOREST PRIMEVAL. 




 




Several of

the old navigators tell how they knew the land of this region was nigh, long

before they came within sight of it. One voyager wrote, in 1632: "Threw

the lead in fourteen fathoms, sandy bottom, and smelt the land, which gave a

sweet perfume, as the wind came from the northwest, which blew off land, and

caused these sweet odors. This comes from the Indians setting lire at this time

of year [December 2] to the woods and thickets, in order to hunt; and the land

is full of sweet-smelling herbs, as sassafras, which has a sweet smell. When

the wind blows out of the northwest, and the smoke is driven to sea, it happens

that the land is smelt before it is seen." 




One

Ordinarily associates experiences like the above with the coasts of the Far

East, but it is pleasant to know that the prospectors for the Newark home-site

returned with impressions of sense and smell like those just quoted. Treat and

Gregory could not have come to New Jersey much before September, and it may

have been later. It must have taken two or three weeks, probably longer, for

them to complete their investigations, so that they could not have returned to

New England before October and very likely not until November. 




 




THE COMING OF

THE PIONEERS, MAY, 1666. 




 




The

colonizers deliberated upon their plans throughout the winter, and the first

group of settlers left New Haven Bay some time before the middle of May, 1666.

They came in at least two vessels, possibly it may have taken more of the small

craft then used to transport them and their goods. The journey was short, for

those days, and no particular hardship attended it, since it was over inland

waters and at a gentle time of the year. Two days, three at the most, must have

seen the Pilgrims finding their way up the Kill van Kull from New York Ray,

toward Elizabethtown Point, where a few humble houses announced the

headquarters of the government of the new colony. 




The pioneer

settlers were headed by their master-mind, Robert Treat, called "Captain"

from the very beginning of the negotiations with Governor Carteret. Indeed, he

had been captain of a train band in the New Haven Colony. With him were heads

of several families from Milford and adjacent plantations. It is doubtful if

many of the women, children, or old and decrepit people came at that time or

for several months, until the first rough work of providing shelter and getting

into the ground what crops they could, had been accomplished. Some of those who

remained on the site the first summer were allowed extra concessions of land

when the actual, individual allotments were made. 




 




REFUSED

POSSESSION BY THE INDIANS. 




 




When Captain

Treat completed his arrangements for the settlement with Governor Carteret the

previous fall, it is said that he bore back to Connecticut with him a letter to

be presented to the chief sachems of the Hackensack Indians at the time the

settlers should be ready to take up the land. This letter was supposed to quiet

all title the natives claimed and was to act as a warrant from the Governor, as

was required under the "Concessions." In that letter Carteret assured

the red men that he would see that they were reimbursed. But Treat is believed

not to have had that letter about him when the vessels arrived in the Passaic

alongside the land they proposed to occupy. Whether he had lost it or had

forgotten to bring it, history does not tell. In any event the red men were on

the ground, or arrived while the settlers were engaged in landing their goods,

and said the ground was theirs, that they had not been paid for it. It is

possible the missing letter might have explained everything to the satisfaction

of the natives, but this is doubtful. 




The settlers

were downcast. They were at first inclined to believe they were the victims of

a breach of faith upon the part of the Governor. They were disposed to return

to Connecticut forthwith. They replaced their goods upon their vessels and

headed for Elizabethtown Point, and Treat and others of the leaders were soon

in conference with Carteret. He protested vehemently against their giving up

the enterprise, and if he had had any thoughts that they could be drawn into

any transaction that was not strictly in accordance with the highest principles

of right conduct and fair dealing toward savages as well as to civilized men,

he must have been completely disabused of such impressions then and there. The

settlers must have clear title to the land or they would have nothing to do

with it or the Governor. The conference seems to have closed with the settlers

resolving to arrange matters with the Indians themselves, as Carteret then and

there refused to pay the red men anything for the territory that was to be

Newark, and as they had now concluded that they would not go back to New

England without first seeing if they could themselves arrive at some equitable

understanding with the Indians. 




 




WHY DID

CARTERET DECLINE TO PAY THE INDIANS? 




 




But why did

Carteret refuse to be responsible for paying the Indians? This is an indistinct

spot in Newark's history. Some historians have been inclined to think it was

sharp practice on the Governor's part and that he was disposed to ignore the

red man's claims upon the land. But this view is not at all consistent with his

conduct in other sections of his proprietorship. The real reason for his

attitude probably lies behind the fact that the Newark territory was believed

by the first settlers of Elizabethtown to be part of the grant they received

from Governor Nicholls, of New York, prior to Carteret's arrival, for which

they paid the Indians about $200 in goods and for which Governor Nicholls

required nothing. While Governor Carteret and the proprietors who succeeded him

contested the right of Nicholls to dispose of land in New Jersey, Carteret was

at first probably willing to accept the validity of the Nicholls grant in so

far as it was thought to effect the title to the Newark territory, partly in

order to avoid the expenditure himself. 




The

Elizabethtown grant from Governor Nicholls had the following boundaries: 2

"On the South by a river commonly called Raritan River, and on the East by

the river which parts Staten Island and the Main [Kill van Kull], and to run

Northward up After Cull [Achter Coll, or Newark Bay] Bay till we come at the

First River [which was quite generally construed to mean the Passaic River]

which sets Westward out of the said Bay aforesaid, and to run West into the

country twice the length as it is broad from the North to the South of the

aforementioned bound." 




Now, this

great stretch of country, comprising nearly half a million acres, was claimed

by two distinct tribes of Indians, all below Weequahic or Bound Creek being in

the land of the Raritans, and that above being part of the domain of the

Hackensacks. Naturally enough, the Hackensacks objected to their land being

sold without their consent, and to the Raritans receiving compensation for it.

Carteret seems to have felt that all obligations had been discharged to the

Indians when he satisfied the Raritans as we have seen. So there was nothing

else for Treat and his followers to do but to enter into negotiations with the

Hackensacks if they wished to possess the land they had chosen. 




 




ROBERT

TREAT'S ACCOUNT. 




 




We are

fortunate in possessing Captain Treat's own narrative of part of the

proceedings at the moment when the settlement of Newark hung wavering in the

balance: 




"No

sooner was the company present got on the Place and landed some of their goods,

than I with some others was by some of the Hackensack Indians warned off the

Ground and [they] seemed troubled and angry that we landed any of our goods

there tho' first we told them we had the Governor's order; but they replied

that the laud was theirs, and it was unpurchased; and therefore we put our

goods on board the vessels and acquainted the Governor with the matter." 




Of his visit

to the Indians, Treat says that he, "with some others, went up to the

Hackensack [the village and headquarters of the local tribe of Lenni Lenape] to

treat with the Sagamores and other Indian proprietors of the land lying on the

West of the Passaick River. One Perro laid claim to the said land which is now

called Newark." 




The result of

the meeting at Hackensack was an agreement that a company of Indians would meet

the settlers on the ground. At this meeting there were present, besides the

settlers and their Dutch interpreters, "all the Proprietors,"

[continues the affidavit] "viz: Perro and his kindred, with the Sagamores

that were able to travel; Oraton [the grand sachem of the Hackensacks] being

very old but approved of Perro's acting. And then we acted by the Advice, Order

and Approbation of tlie said Governor (who was troubled for our sakes) * * * *

and I, with some others, solicited the Governor to pay for our Purchase to the

Indians, which he refused, and would not disburse anything unless I would

reimburse him again; and a Bill of Sale was made, wherein the Purchase of said

land will at large appear." 




 




HONEST

DEALINGS WITH THE NATIVES. 




 




We would lose

sight of one of the most significant lessons to be learned from all Newark's

early history if we failed to note at this juncture that the settlers paid the

Indians for every foot of land; that it was a straightforward business

transaction, carried out with quite as much exactitude as if the sellers had

not been untutored savages. It was no doubt a very solemn occasion, the

arrangement for the purchase. The settlers conformed to their consciences in

paying the red men what they asked, as well as adhering to the letter of the

English law that colonizers satisfy all claims of the savage inhabitants of a

new country. It is a source for profound gratification to us to-day that Newark

started with a clean record for fair and square dealing. Indeed, the same

procedure was followed throughout all New Jersey. This, however, cannot be

truly said of all the Colonies. 




Perro,

according to the laws of the tribe was the titular owner of the land out of

which all of Newark, and in fact most of Essex county has been reared. He was

recognized by tribal customs as its representative to whom the purchase price

should be paid, although the proceeds of the sale were not to be held by him

alone. Perro, then, stands for the earliest owners of Newark soil. The city

should perpetuate his name in some lasting form. 




While the

agreement to sell was made by the Indians in May, 1666, the bill of sale was

not signed until July 11, 1667, when practically all of those who are of right

called the founders were on the ground. 




Captain Treat

and Samuel Edsal, the latter an interpreter of the Lenni Lenape tongue and a

land owner living on Bergen-Neck, acted as agents for the settlers. Edsal was

the pioneer in the settlement of Constable Hook. John Capteen, a Dutchman, was

also on hand as interpreter, while Perro was the principal for the Indians. The

following natives signed the document with their "marks or individual

totems: Wapamuck, Harish, Captamin, Sessom, Mamustome, Peter Wamesane,

Wekaprokikan, Cackmackque or Cacknakrue, and Perawae. These were the settlers

who signed: Michael, or Micah, Tompkins, Samuel Kitchell, John Brown and Robert

Denison. Besides Edsal, there were as witnesses: Pierwim, sachem of Pau; Edward

Burrowes and Richard Fletcher. 




 




THE FIRST

PURCHASES OF LAND. 




 




The tract

purchased, as the bill or deed of sale describes it, was "bounded and

limited with the bay eastward, and the great river Pesayak northward; the great

creek or river in the meadow, running to the head of the cove and from thence

bearing a west line, for the south bounds, which said great creek is commonly

called Weequahick; on the west line, backwards in the country to the foot of

the great mountain, called Watchung [the Lenni Lenape name for Orange mountain,

meaning 'the place of the mountain'], being, as is judged, about seven or eight

miles from Pesayak Towne. The said mountain, as we are informed, hath one

branch of the Elizabeth river running near the above said foot of the mountain.

The bounds northerly up Pesayak river reach to the third river above the town.

The river is called Yauntakah, and from thence, upon a northwest line to the

aforesaid mountain." 




The price

paid for this superb area was, according to the East Jersey records:

"fifty double hands [as much as the two hands held together hold,

undoubtedly] of [gun] powder, one hundred bars of lead, twenty axes, twenty

coats, ten guns, twenty pistols, ten kettles, ten swords, four blankets, four

barrels of beer, ten pair of breeches, fifty knives, twenty hoes, eight hundred

and fifty fathoms of wampum, twenty ankers of liquors, or something equivalent,

and ten troopers coats." 




This odd

catalogue represents the Indian's idea of what the white man calls wealth.

Probably the savages felt they were making a good bargain. In money these goods

had a value of about $700, as we would reckon it to-day. That sum to-day (1913)

nearly two hundred and fifty years after the purchase, would not buy two inches

of front near the corners of Market and Broad streets. Ten years later, on

March 13, 1677, the settlers made another purchase, extending the western

boundary, from the base to the top of the mountain, giving two guns, three

coats and thirteen cans of rum. 




Thus the

original owners of the soil received goods valued at about $700 for the greater

part of what is now Essex county. No more eloquent illustration of the mighty

changes wrought in two centuries and a half can be given anyone of the present

generation who feels himself passably familiar with this region as it is

to-day. The payment was not made immediately upon taking possession. 




The deed of

sale was not signed, as we have seen, until the following year. The purchase

price was assessed upon each family, not only those who first came, but all who

arrived in the next year who were entitled to be considered among the

"associates," or makers of the original settlement. And they were,

indeed, very well able to pay, for it is reckoned that the thirty families in

the first group of settlers from Milford "and neighboring

plantations" had a combined wealth (real and personal) of about $64,000,

an average of over $2,000 for each family, no mean sum indeed for the time. 




 




DATE OF

SETTLEMENT — SOURCES OF INFORMATION. 




 




We date the

settlement from the first landing, which, as we have seen, was not the

permanent landing. Did the first appearance of the settlers in the Passaic and

the landing of part of their goods, fall on May 17, or on May 20, 1666, or on

either date? In the writings of a number of historians we find May 20 favored.

May 17 was used on the occasion of the celebration of the two hundredth

anniversary of the settlement, in 1866. May 20 was adopted as "Founder's

Day" at the time of the Newark Industrial Exhibition in May, 1912 There is

nothing in any record now [1913] known to exist that fixes it 




There are but

two really direct sources of the history of the beginnings of Newark's

settlement: the Elizabethtown Bill of Chancery, copies of which may be seen at

the New Jersey Historical Society's building in West Park street, Newark, and

the old Newark "Town Minute Book," containing the records of the town

meetings from 1666 to 1775, with two short omissions in 1714 and 1715. In the

archives of the Municipal Library at the Newark City Hall is a copy of the

minutes made by Joseph Hedden, junior, in 1775, by order of a public town

meeting, for which he was paid ten pounds, "proclamation money." All

trace of the original minutes has been lost since that time. It is to be

doubted that anyone then thought these ancient original records of any value.

If they were preserved, either in the Court House or in the home of the village

pastor of Revolutionary times, the Rev. Dr. Alexander Macwhorter, the British

made short work of them, as they did with others of Newark's almost priceless

records. 




In neither

Minute Book nor Elizabethtown Bill of Chancery proceedings is the date of the

founding given. The Minute Book (Hodden's copy) begins with an

"Imprimis," believed to have been written by Captain Treat, who was

the first Recorder and keeper of the minutes, explaining that the settlers

deliberated together, in what was virtually the first Newark town meeting,

although it was held either on one of their vessels or on land in or near

Elizabethtown, and on May 21. They no doubt took this common action as soon

after their ejectment from the land by the natives as possible, probably the

very next day, if not on May 21 itself. One thing appears certain, that the

seven days ending with May 21 should be considered as "founders'

week." This comprehends both dates that have in the past been considered

as the anniversary of the eventful day, May 17 and 20. 




 




THE LANDING

PLACE. 




 




Where did

they land? This fact, too, is shrouded in uncertainty. The spot, in all

probability lay somewhere between the present location of the Market street and

Center street bridges, and probably nearer the latter. Almost immediately below

the Market street bridge were the marshes. There was in fact, a marshy fringe

along the Newark side of the river nearly all the way to what is now

Belleville. Immediately back of the marsh was a ridge or bluff whose lines can

still be traced. Only six months after the settlement, reference was made in

the Minute Book to the "landing place" in locating the home lot of

Thomas Richards, and from the description there given the spot would appear to

have been close to Center street bridge, possibly a little below it. 




There is a

pretty little story to the effect that the first to set foot on the shore was

Elizabeth, daughter of Captain Samuel Swarne, Swaine or Swain, one of the

leading men among the founders. She is said to have been assisted to land by

Josiah Ward, whom she afterward married. This story seems to have been handed

down by word of mouth through the long line of generations of Newark folk, and

like most traditions it has possibly been unconsciously perverted from the

original story. The Swains and Wards were of the Bran ford group, and very few

of the people from that town came to Newark until months after the settlement

in May, those who did come with the pioneers being the "agents"

referred to elsewhere. It was originally intended, before the actual settlement,

to found four towns, the groups from the Connecticut towns to retain identity

as so many communities. Elizabeth Swain was probably the first of the Branford

group, but not of the pioneers, to land. 




 




DIVIDENT HILL

AND THE TRIANGLE. 




 




While the

bill of sale settled the boundaries of the new community so far as the Indians

were concerned, the Newark settlers had still to reckon with their neighbors in

Elizabethtown as to the precise line of partition between them. Representatives

of the two towns assembled at Weequahic creek in 1668, and solemnly and

amicably fixed the boundary there, with prayer and thanksgiving. Thereafter the

little stream was called Bound Creek, which name it shares with the older

Indian name, Weequahic, to this day. It is well worth remembering that

Weequahic creek was the boundary line between the Hackensack and Raritan tribes

of the Lenni Lenape for many generations before the white man came. It

possesses another feature of value, since the creek is probably the last

surviving trace of the prehistoric Passaic river outlet, which flowed through

the Short Hills and down to the sea, when the present course was blocked with

the glacial ice pack near Little Falls, and for an unknown duration of time

before the glacial era. 




The

ceremonies attending the fixing of the boundary were held on an eminence,

called "Divident Hill" thereafter, and on May 20. We cannot but

wonder if that date was chosen as the anniversary of the landing of the Newark

settlers, or if it was only by chance that it fell so close to, if not actually

upon, the second anniversary of that important event. The agents for the two

towns in fixing the boundaries were: For Newark — Jasper Crane, Robert Treat,

Matthias Canfield, Richard Harris and Thomas Johnson. For Elizabethtown — John

Ogden, Luke Watson, Robert Bond and Jefferey Jones. 




One

interesting part of the ceremonies on Divident Hill was the cutting of the

letter E on the south side of an oak tree and of the letter N on the north

side, to mark the boundary line for future reference. Similar markings were cut

upon trees along the rest of the boundary line westward. 




The business

done on that memorable day, May 20, 1668, settled for the time being an

important point, as to whether the boundary line was to run due west from the lower

reaches of Weequahic creek or northwest to the Watchung mountains. A great

triangle of land, of great length westward, lay between those two imaginary

lines. On Divident Hill the men of Newark solemnly gave up all claims to that

triangle and accepted a boundary line running northwest from that hill to the

break in Watchung mountain, virtually at the southern end of what is now known

as the South Mountain reservation. 




In

compensation for the concession of the triangle, or such part of it as lay east

of Watchung Mountain, the people of Elizabethtown agreed to give to Newark the

salt meadows, from Snake Hill to Barbadoes Neck, being the tract between the

Hackensack and Passaic rivers and including the ridge then, or soon afterwards,

known as Barbadoes Neck, and being the ridge which we now call Kearny. Later,

however, it was found that a prior grant for that territory had been given to

the Kingsland and Sandford families, English settlers who had come from the

West Indies, and who supplied the name "Barbadoes." When this became

known the Newark men demanded that the "triangle," to which they had

surrendered all title on Divident Hill, be given them since they had nothing to

show in place of it. But their demands did not prevail. During the short period

in which the Dutch were again in authority, the Newarkers purchased the tract

from them, but later the Proprietory government restored it to Kingsland and

Sandford without remuneration to the Newark folk. 




The

subsequent history of the "triangle" is interesting. It remained a

part of the borough of Elizabeth until 1834, when a portion of it was included

within the limits of the township of Clinton. This township was annexed to Newark

about 1902, and thus, after the lapse of nearly a century and three-quarters, a

goodly portion of the ancient triangle became a part of Newark. 




 




THE

ELIZABETHTOWN BILL IN CHANCERY. 




 




The Barbadoes

Neck controversy dwindled into insignificance before the far more important

discussions involved in the celebrated Elizabethtown Chancery case, the suit

being begun with the filing of a voluminous Bill in Chancery on April 13, 1745,

by the Earl of Stair and other proprietors of the Eastern Division of New Jersey

against what were known as the Clinker Lot Right men who claimed title to the

land under the grant of Governor Nicholls of New York, made by him a little

before Governor Carteret appeared on the scene in 1665. There were thirty

complainants in the case and four hundred and sixty-two defendants. 




In this suit

the proprietors asked the governor of the Province to grant writs of injunction

"commanding the defendants and confederates to commit no further waste or

spoil upon the lands in question by the cutting of timber or other abuse

whatsoever until your Excellency shall have given farther instructions

therein." 




The writs

were never granted, nor was any decision ever given in the case. The excitement

immediately before and throughout the French and Indian war seems to have

prevented a decision in the 1750's; (the defendants filed an "Answer"

to the bill in 1752). Before the courts were again ready to move, the

promulgation of the Stamp Act made a decision impracticable or unwise. Then

came the War for Independence and no more has ever been heard of the

Elizabethtown Bill in*Chancery, except in the pages of history and in legal

proceedings where citations from proceedings with reference to it have been

considered of value to counsel. 




 




OTHER LAND

CONTROVERSIES. 




 




In the

controversy embodied in the Elizabethtown Bill in Chancery, the Bound Creek

partition and Divident Hill played an active part, much information of the

greatest value to Newark's historians being there set down, usually in the form

of affidavits. The struggle between the proprietors and the people for

possession of the land hereabouts first found its way into the courts in the

form of prosecutions to test the validity of the Nicholls grant, as early as

the first year of the reign of George I, causing troublous times in Newark,

Elizabethtown and other places affected. The interests of Newark's people were

closely identified with those of Elizabethtown, not only in these prosecutions

but in the Bill in Chancery, since Newark's territory was held to be included

in the Nicholls grant whose soundness the proprietors sought to destroy. As the

Elizabethtown settlers gave up all rights to the Newark territory at the time

of the ceremonies on Divident Hill, the two had common cause against the

proprietors. 




It is strange

how ancient controversies like this are often given to cropping out in new

forms in succeeding generations. In 1857 Union County was set off from Essex,

and the boundary line was declared to be that of the two municipalities, Newark

and Elizabeth. No attempt was made in the law to accurately define that

boundary. In 1880, however, the Board of Chosen Freeholders of Essex County

applied to the Supreme Court of the State, under a statute then in force, for

the appointment of commissioners to locate the line. "At that time,"

wrote Frank Bergen, who represented the county of Union, as counsel, "it

was supposed that a surveyor could easily ascertain the line and that the

dispute would be settled by the commission without trouble. It turned out,

however, that there was no reliable evidence in existence as to the location of

the boundary, and a mass of historical matter was collected running back for

more than two hundred years.  




After many

months of controversy in the courts during which the Legislature twice

interposed, a law was enacted locating the boundary between the two counties,

as it had been fixed partly by the settlers on Divident Hill and determined by

the old deeds, records, mortgages, tax receipts, etc. 




 




LOCATION OF

DIVIDENT HILL. 




 




As for

Divident Hill, it deserves to be reckoned as one of the most precious of

Newark's landmarks, since it was on an ancient division line established no one

knows how long before the coming of the white man; since on its summit the

settlers of two of the leading communities in all New Jersey fixed their

bounds, and because the hill figured in great controversies between the people

and the Lords Proprietors, from the early days of settlement down to the War

for Independence. 




There seems

to have been no question of its precise location until about 1880, when the

suits to determine the boundary between Essex and Union counties began as

already described. The parties to the suits sought, with true human

characteristics, to have the boundary moved further north or south according to

the county in which their interests lay. 




The strongest

testimony as to the location of the historic hill fixed it a short distance

east of Elizabeth avenue and about on a line with Lyons avenue, if that

thoroughfare had been cut through. A recently constructed park boulevard (1913)

runs around part of the hill base. Following these directions one finds himself

upon perhaps the highest eminence in the entire neighborhood, upon just such a

hill as one might imagine surveyors and engineers would select for a boundary.

It is well within the confines of the Weequahic Reservation and its

preservation thus falls into the appreciative hands of the Essex County Park

Commission. This hill, it may be added, was the one given as Divident Hill by

William A. Whitehead, one of New Jersey's most reliable historians, who lived

in Newark and whose personal recollections of it extended back to at least

1820, and who no doubt fixed its location partly by the information given him

by residents whose memories carried them back at least a half century before

his own time. 




 




EARLY

ORGANIZATION OF NEWARK SETTLERS. 




 




Returning to

the main narrative after this long but essential digression: 




Agents from

the towns of Guilford, New Haven and Branford were with the first settlers that

memorable May time, 1666. They approved of all that was done in the selection

and purchase of the town site, and they were told that if the people of their

towns who had thought of joining in the new venture should make favorable

answer before the following November, the Milford folk, already on the ground,

and the prospective new arrivals, whom they called "associates,"

should constitute one township only; "to be," as the Minute Book declares

in the true Puritan style, "of one heart and consent with God's blessing

in endeavoring to carry on their spiritual concernments, as well as their civil

and town affairs, according to God and a Godly government." 




It was the

men of Milford who really founded the town and devised the beginnings of the

town government; for at the gathering held on May 21, 1666, while negotiations

with the Indians were pending, and which we have already spoken of as Newark's

first town meeting, they chose their first officers, in the form of an

executive or emergency committee of eleven members, "for the speedier and

better expedition of things then emergent to be done," as follows: 




 




FIRST TOWN

COMMITTEE. 




 




Captain

Robert Treat, Lieutenant Samuel Swain, Mr. [a title of distinction at that time]

Samuel Kitchell, Michael Tompkins [or Micah Tomkins], Mr. Morris, Sergt.

Richard Beckly, Richard Harrison, Thomas Blatchly, Edward Riggs, Stephen

Freeman and Thomas Johnson. This committee was to have charge of the system of

home lot distribution and to pass upon the rights and credentials of all whom

the agents of Guilford and Branford might declare were privileged to join in

settlement, their rights to lots as associates to be held open for them until

June of the next year. 




BRANFORD

GROUP AND THE "FUNDAMENTAL AGREEMENTS." 




 




It was the

Branford group, however, that drew up the religious foundation upon which the

town was to be erected, and in which Newark's first pastor was no doubt largely

instrumental. 




This it did

at a public meeting in Branford, on October 30, 1666, just previous to leaving.

This was the only one of the four communities that brought practically all of

its people to New Jersey. They drew up two "fundamental agreements,"

in accordance with the term of agreement laid down by the Milford folk at the

"first town meeting," on May 21, after the manner of the

"fundamental agreement" of the New Haven Colony, and embodying their

perfervid Puritan ideals described in a previous chapter, as follows: 




"1st.

That none shall be admitted freemen or free Burgesses within our town upon

Passaick River, in the province of New Jersey, but such planters as are members

of some or other of the Congregational Churches; nor shall any but such be

chosen to Magistracy, or to carry on any part of Civil Judicature, or as

deputies or assistants to have power to vote in establishing Laws, and making

or repealing them, or to any chief Military Trust or office. Nor shall any but

such Church members have any Vote in any such elections: Tho' all others

admitted to Be planters have Right to their proper Inheritances, and do and

shall enjoy all other Civil Liberties and Privileges, According to Laws,

Orders, Grants, which are or hereafter shall Be Made for this Town. 




"2nd. We

shall with Care and Diligence provide for the maintenance of the purity of

Religion professed in the Congregational Churches." 




 




NEWARK'S FOUR

SCRIPTURAL FOUNDATION STONES. 




 




The document

bearing these agreements had written at the head of it four texts from the Old

Testament, which the people of Branford had selected as the pillars, or

foundation stones upon which this, the last Puritan theocracy, or Kingdom of

God on earth, was erected, in sublime indifference to any and all laws that

might be set up by Governor Carteret, or any other representative of the Lords

Proprietors, or of the British crown. These texts were as follows: 
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